(NRC fORM §91M PART 1 U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
10 CFR 2 201

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

1. LICENSEE/LOCATION INSPECTED: 2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE
Advanced Corrosion Technologies and Training
13087A Sauth Highway 288B, Suite A U.S. Nuctear Regulatory Commission
Angleton, Texas Region IV, 1600 East Lamar Bivd
Arlington, Texas 76011-4511
REPORT NO: 2016-001

. DOCKET NUMBER 4 LICENSE NUMBER 5. DATE OF INSPECTION
030-38764 42-35135-02 May 17-24, 2016

LICENSEE:
The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your iicense as they relate to radiation safaty and to compliance with the Nuclear
Regulatary Cemmisgion (NRC) rules and regulations and the condltions of your licensa. The inapaction consisted of sslactive axaminations of
procedures and represantative records, intarviews with psrsonnel, and obsarvations by the inspector. The ingpection findings are as follows:

o 1. Based on the inspaction findings, no violations were identified.

x 2. Provious vicigtion(s) closed.

3. The violations(s), specrfically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not baing cited becausa thay ware saif-
identified, non-repetitive, and comrective action was of is being taken, and the remaining criteria In the NRC Enforcemant Policy to exercise
dscretion, were gatisfled.

Non-Cited Violation(s) was/were discussad invoiving the following requirement(s) and Cormrective Action(s).

! x ! 4. During this inspection centain of your activities, as dascnbed balow and/or sttached, were in viclation of NRC requiroments and are being
- cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which moy be subject to posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19,11,
(Violations and Corrective Actions)

10 CFR 34.43(e)(1) requires, in par, that the radiation safety officer or designee shall conduct an inspection program of
the job performance of each radicgrapher and radiographer's asgistant, to include observation of the radicgrapher and
radiographer's assistant during an actua! industrial radiographic operation, at intervals not to exceed six months.

Contrary to the above, as of the date of the inspaction on May 17, 2016, the radiation safety officer or designes failed to
conduct the above-referenced inspection program of the job performance of each radiographer and radiographer's
assistant (field audit) at the licensee's field office in Lysite, Wyoming, at intervals not to exceed six months. The last field
audit was performed on October 21, 2015, so from this date until the date of the ingpection, field audits were not
performed, which is an interval greater than six months. The licensee committed to comect this violation by performing
this field audit in June 2016, and ensuring future field audits are performed timely by utilizing a spreadshest to document
due dates for field audits of radicgraphers and radiographer’s assistants at the Lysite, Wyoming field office.

Licensee’s Statement of Corrective Actions for ltem 4, above.

| heraby state that, within 30 days, the actions describad by me to the inspector will be taken 10 comect the violations dantified. Thia statement of
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken,
date whan full compliance will be achiaved). | understand that no further written respense to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.
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NRC INSPECTOR James L. Thompson May 24, 2016
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